
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

HARDCO HOLDING GROUP LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company, 

S & H FINANCIAL GROUP INC., a Florida 
corporation, 

DARYL M. HALL, individually and as an officer 
ofHardco Holding Group LLC and S & H 
Financial Group Inc., and 

DEQUAN M. SICARD, individually and as an 
officer of1.127 0 Td�(an )T0021 Tc 2.883 0 Tddividua38y 



l 692- l 692p, in connection with Defendants' deceptive and abusive debt collection practices, 

including attempts to harass consumers into paying debts that they do not actually owe. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2; This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 

1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b), and 16921. 

3. 	 Venue is proper-1n this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(l), (b)(2), (b)(3), (c)(l), (c)(2), 

and (d), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. 	 The FTC is an independent agency of consumers 7 FT63cy 



Blossom Trail, Suite 186, Orlando, Florida and 15661 Sheridan Street, Suite 3, Davie, 

Florida. Hardco Holding is the registrant for the telecommunications services used by the 

Defendants. Hardco Holding transacts or has transacted business in this district and 

throughout the United States. 

7. 	 . Defendant S & H Financial Group Inc. ("S&H") is a Florida corporation with its 

principal place of business at 6220 S. Orange Blossom Trail, Suite 193, Orlando, Florida. 

Hardco Holding has also used mailing addresses of 750 S. Orange Blossom Trail, Suite 186, 

Orlando, Florida, 618 Short Pine Circle, Orlando, Florida, and 15661 Sheridan Street, Suite 

3, Davie, Florida. Merchant accounts Defendants use to process payments from consumers 

are held in the name of S&H. S&H transacts or has transacted business in this district and 

throughout the United States. 

8. 	 Defendant Daryl M. Hall is the managing member ofHardco Holding and the president 

of S&H. He is or has beeri an authorized signatory to the bank accounts of Hardco Holding 

· and S&H. He is listed as the contact person for Defendants' telecommunications services. 

At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he has 

formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and 

practices set forth in this Complaint. Defendant Hall resides in this district and, in 

connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this district 

and throughout the United States. 

9. 	 Defendant Dequan M. Sicard is the vice-president of S&H. He is or has been an 

authorized signatory to the bank accounts of S&H. At all times material to this Complaint, 

acting alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the 
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authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

Defendant Sicard resides in this district and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, 

transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States. 

10. 	 Defendants Hardco Holding and S&H (collectively, "Corporate Defendants") have 

operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the unlawful acts and practices and other 

violations of law alleged below. Defendants have conducted the business practices 

described below through interrelated companies.that have common ownership, officers, 

managers, business functions, employees, and office locations,. and that commingled funds. 

Because these Corporate Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is 

jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Defendants ac0.0197 462 Tc 1.do0.0 







a financial institution, could go to prison, or that the Sheriff or police will come to their 

house and arrest them. 

21. 	 In fact, in numerous instances when Defendants threaten consumers with legal action, no 

legal action has been taken, Defendants do not intend to take any such legal action, nor do 

Defendants have authority to take any such legal action. Defendants also cannot have 

consumers arrested for non-payment of a private debt. Further, neither Defendants nor their 

representatives are attorneys or are working for attorneys, and Defendants are not a law firm. 

22. 	 Moreover, in numerous instances, consumers do not owe the purported debt or 

Defendants are not authorized to collect on the debt. In fact, in many instances when 

consumers contact the purported creditors, they discover either that they never had any debts 

with those creditors or that their debts had already been paid. 

23. 	 In numerous instances, Defendants also have communicated with third parties. In 

numerous such instances, Defendants: (1) already possessed location information for the 

consumer, including the consumer's place of abode, telephone number, or place of 

employment; (2) disclosed the consumer's purported debt to the third party; or (3) 

represented to the third party that Defendants will commence legal action-including 

arrest-against the putative debtor if the debt is not paid. 

24. 	 In numerous instances, in communications with consumers, Defendants' collectors fail to 

disclose that they are debt collectors. 

25. 	 In numerous instances, Defendants fail to provide consumers, within five days after the 

initial communication with consumers, a written notice containing ( 1) the amount of the debt; 

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; (3) a statement that unkss the 
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31. The representations set forth in Paragraph 30 are false or misleading or were not 

substantiated at the time the representations were made. 

32. 	 Therefore, the making of the representations as set forth in Paragraph 30 of this 

Complaint constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

COUNT II 
False or Misleading Representations Regarding Legal Action 

3 3. 	 In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of alleged debts, Defendants 

have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that: 

(a) 	 Defendants are attorneys or affiliated with attorneys; 

(b) 	 Defendants are a law firm; 

(c) 	 The consumer will be arrested or imprisoned for failing to pay Defendants; and 

(d) 	 Defendants have taken, intend to take, or have authority to take formal legal 

action against a consumer who fails to pay, such as filing suit. 

34. 	 In 
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35. 	 Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 33 ofthis Complaint are 

false or misleading and constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of Section 5(a) of 

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FDCPA 

36. 	 In 1977, Congress passed the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, which became effective 

on March 20, 1978, and has been in force since that date. Under Section 814 ofthe FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692/, a violation of the FDCPA is deemed an unfair or deceptive act or practice 

. in violation of the FTC Act. Further, the FTC is authorized to use all of its functions and 

powers under the FTC Act to enforce compliance with the FDCP A. 

37. 	 Defendants are "debt collectors" as defined by Section 803(6) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a(6). 

38. 	 A "consumer," as defined in Section 803(3) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), 

"means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt." 

39. 	 A "debt," as defined in Section 803(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5), "means any 

obligation or allege~bligation of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in 

which the money, property, insurance or services which are the with ofo 8508in thed�(7 312.36 Td�(with )Tj5.707 0 Td5731 >>BDC �0 Tprim5 Tl79 Tc 2.952322 0 Td�18in )Tj�f4 Tc 3.582 85obj T39o f  
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COUNT III 

Unlawful Third-Party Communications 


41. 	 In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of debts, Defendants have 

communicated with persons other than the consumer, the consumer's attorney, a consumer 

reporting agency if otherwise permitted by law, the creditor, the attorney of the creditor, the 

attorney of the debt coHector, the consumer's spouse, parent (if the consumer is a minor), 

guardian, executor, or administrator for purposes other than acquiring location information 

about a consumer, without having obtained directly the 



(a) 	 Falsely representing the character, amount, or legal status of any debt, in violation 

of Section 807(2)(A) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C, § 1692e(2)(A); 

(b) 	 Falsely representing or implying that any individual representative is an attorney 

or that any communication is from an attorney, in violation of Section 807(3) of the 

FDCPA, 15U.S.C. § 1692e(3); 

(c) 	 Falsely representing or implying that nonpayment of a debt will result in the arrest 

or imprisonment of a person, when such action is not lawful or when the Defendants 

have no intention of taking such action, in violation of Section 807(4) of the FDCPA, 

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(4); 

(d) 	 Threatening to take action that is not lawful or the Defendants do not intend to 

take, such as filing a lawsuit, in violation of Section 807(5) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(5); 

(e) 	 Using false representations or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect a 

debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer, in violation of Section 807(10) 

of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(l0); 

(f) 	 Failing to disclose (1) in the initial oral communication with consumers that 

Defendants are debt collectors attempting to collect a debt and that any information 

obtained by Defendants from consumers will be used for 



(g) 	 Using a business, company, or organization name other than the true name of 

Defendants' business, company, or organization, in violation of Section 807(14) of 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(14). 

COUNT VI 

Failure to Provide a Validation Notice 


44. 	 In numerous instances, in connection with the collection of debts, Defendants have failed 

to send consumers, within five days after the initial communication with consumers, a 

written notice containing (1) the amount of the 



this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enriclunent, and 

harm the public interest. 

TIDS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

46. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and Section 814(a) of the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. d consumers01the th39likely t h 5  F D C P A 0 d  



C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act and 
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